ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

OCT 19 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHARLES TRAMAYNE MYERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002392

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Myers' motion for a directed verdict when the state did not present substantial circumstantial evidence that the drugs belonged to Myers and the evidence only raised a mere suspicion of Myers' guilt when there were no eyewitnesses, and no forensic evidence connecting Myers to the drugs?
2. Did the trial court err in charging the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all when Myers was the only person arrested and charged?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 3, 2013, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Charles T. Myers on the charges of trafficking in cocaine more than twenty-eight grams but less than one hundred grams, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana (PWID), and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. On October 6-8, 2014, Myers proceeded to trial before the Honorable Knox McMahan and a jury. Myers was represented by Benjamin Lewis, and the state was represented by Lauren Mulkey and Lindsey Byrd. R. 1. The jury found Myers not guilty of the gun charge but guilty of trafficking cocaine and PWID marijuana as indicted. R. 166, ll. 17 – R. 167, ll. 14. Judge McMahan sentenced Myers to the minimum twenty-five years on the trafficking cocaine third offense, and to five years on the PWID marijuana with sentences to run concurrent. R. 176, ll. 13 – R. 177, ll. 4. Myers' attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The police in North Charleston received an anonymous tip on the tip hotline that Charles Myers was selling drugs in the Saratoga community. The police conducted surveillance of the area. R. 6, ll. 8 – R. 10, ll. 23. Two trash pulls were conducted at the location where Myers reportedly stayed in Saratoga on August 27, 2012 and October 15, 2012. R. 16, ll. 23 – R. 21, ll. 20. Based on these activities, a search warrant was obtained for the residence where Myers allegedly resided. This warrant was executed on October 26, 2012. R. 82, ll. 4 – R. 84, ll. 19.

When the police arrived, Myers was in the passenger seat of a vehicle parked in the driveway of the incident location. His girlfriend, Crystal Nelson, was in the driver's seat. The vehicle was searched and approximately eighteen grams of marijuana were found in the glove compartment. Baggies were found in the center console and a digital scale was found under the passenger seat and some marijuana on the passenger seat. R. 85, ll. 21 – R. 87, ll. 15; R.100 351, ll. 9 – 22.

In the house were found Crystal's mother, Shirley Nelson, and Crystal's sister. R. 85, ll. 21 – R. 86, ll. 1. In bedroom one were found male and female clothing. Mail was also found with the names of Crystal Nelson and Charles Myers. Under the bed was found a pink Victoria's Secret box which contained a 9 millimeter handgun, thirty-four grams of powder cocaine, and fifty grams of marijuana. R. 74, ll. 1 – R. 76, ll. 23; R. 79, ll. 17 – 25; R. 90, ll. 1- R. 91, ll. 14.

In bedroom two which belonged to Crystal's mother, Shirley Nelson, was found marijuana in the nightstand. It was a personal use amount. R. 91, ll. 17 – 23. Detective

Tireka Cerone testified that ten grams of marijuana was consistent with one serving for personal use. R. 95, ll. 1 – 25.

Crystal Nelson testified that Myers was her boyfriend and that he stayed overnight with her in her bedroom on a regular basis. However, she and her mother were the only people who lived there. Myers helped with the bills sometimes. The gun in the box found under her bed belonged to her. The drugs in the box did not. She did not know the drugs were in the box and was surprised when they were found. She did not say she saw Myers put the drugs in the box. The police did not arrest her. R. 67, ll. 20 – R. 78, ll. 25; Supp. R. 14, ll. 1-25.

Shirley Nelson, mother of Crystal, testified that only she and her daughter, Crystal, lived at the residence. Myers was Crystal's boyfriend and he helped with the bills sometimes. Supp. R. 15, ll. 6-25; R. 101, ll.1- 102, ll. 15; Supp. R. 17, ll. 1 – 16. She admitted that the police found a pipe and marijuana in her room and issued her a ticket which she paid. R. 103, ll. 17 – R. 104, ll. 18. Shirley Nelson never saw Myers with any drugs nor a gun. She would have kicked him out if she saw him with cocaine in her house. Supp. R. 16, ll. 5 – 25.

Officer Jamell Foster testified in the pretrial hearing that when Myers was found in the car at the incident location with the marijuana, he was placed in the police vehicle. Because Officer Foster was known for his ability to "reason" with people, his sergeant asked him to talk with Myers because they could get "no compliance" from Myers. Supp. R. 6, ll. 9 – Supp. R. 13, ll. 25.

Officer Foster told Myers that everyone in the house, including his girlfriend, was going to jail. Myers allegedly told him that the girl had nothing to do with this. Officer

a statement claiming ownership of all of the drugs. R. 32, ll. 1 – R. 36, ll. 25; R. 38, ll. 14 – R. 54, ll. 25.

Myers testified at the hearing that he gave the statement claiming ownership of the drugs only because he did not want his girlfriend and her mother to go to jail, and he believed they would have if he had not given the statement. His only choices were to go to jail himself or they go to jail. R. 55, ll. 1 – R. 58, ll. 10.

The trial judge ruled that the state had not proved that the statement was given voluntarily. The judge held that based on the totality of the circumstances, Myers' statement was not admissible given the fact that his girlfriend and her mother could have been arrested. R. 59, ll. 22 – R. 63, ll. 8.

Detective Cerone admitted on cross examination that the police had no forensic evidence in this case nor any eyewitness as to the drugs. There were no fingerprints, no DNA, no cameras, and no eyewitnesses as to who put the drugs in the pink box. Detective Cerone also agreed that only eighteen grams of marijuana were found in the car. According to her, ten grams was one unit and there two people in the car. R. 97, ll. 1 – R. 100, ll. 25.

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. Counsel argued that the state had only shown mere suspicion that Myers was responsible for the drugs. Other adults had access to the drugs. Counsel pointed out that there was as much evidence in the record that Crystal had control and dominion over the gun and drugs as Myers did. There was no other evidence of Myers' guilt. R. 108, ll. 15 – R. 109, ll. 11.

The state argued there was substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tended to prove Myers' guilt. The judge denied the directed verdict motion. R. 109, ll. 12 – R. 112, ll. 17.

Defense counsel moved again at the close of all of the evidence for a directed verdict on the same arguments. The judge denied the motions again. R. 115, ll. 22 – R. 119, ll. 25.

During the charge conference, the judge stated that the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all did apply in this case. Defense counsel objected to the charge because he argued there was no evidence of any conspiracy or that Myers was working with anyone. Counsel argued that the guilty party was either Myers or someone else. Crystal Nelson was never charged nor arrested. No one else was arrested. The judge ruled that there was sufficient evidence in the record for the charge because Myers was sleeping in the bed with his girlfriend and her gun was in the box along with the drugs. R. 112, ll. 18 – R. 114, ll. 17.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Myers' motion for a directed verdict when the state did not present substantial circumstantial evidence that the drugs belonged to Myers and the evidence only raised a mere suspicion of Myers' guilt when there were no eyewitnesses, and no forensic evidence connecting Myers to the drugs.

On appeal of a denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, the Supreme Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state. State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004). A trial judge should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. Id.; State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error. State v. Arnold, *supra*. A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

In State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 755 S.E.2d 457 (2014), the Supreme Court held that if there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. Citing State v. Cherry, *supra*.

In Myers' case, there was only a mere suspicion of Myers' guilt. There were no witnesses nor any forensic evidence. The state did not present any witnesses who had bought drugs from Myers or who had seen him sell drugs. There were no witnesses who told of heavy traffic to the incident location.

The marijuana in the car was in the amount described by Detective Cerone for personal use only for two people. The drugs were found in Crystal Nelson's bedroom in her pink box with her gun inside. The logical conclusion would be that the drugs in the same box were hers.

There was not substantial circumstantial evidence of Myers' guilt sufficient to send the case to the jury. Without Myers' statement, the state had bare circumstantial evidence.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in charging the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all when Myers was the only person arrested and charged.

Under the “hand of one, the hand of all theory”, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. ” State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 515 S.E.2d 98 (1999); State v. Jackson, 410 S.C. 584, 765 S.E.2d 841 (Ct. App. 2014).

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001); State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989). A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed, where the charges as a whole properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007). A jury charge is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Curry, 370 S.C. 674, 636 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006). Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994).

The Supreme Court held in State v. Day, 341 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 431 (2000), that the failure to tailor jury instructions to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant constituted reversible error. In State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989), the Supreme Court reversed and remanded Fuller’s conviction of voluntary manslaughter because the Court held that it was reversible error where the trial court failed to charge on the elements of defense which were applicable to the issues raised by the defendant.

In State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 ( 2010), the Supreme Court again reiterated that the law to be instructed to the jury must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. Citing State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001).

Just as a judge should give a requested jury charge if supported by the evidence presented, a judge should not give a charge if the evidence does not support that charge. In Myers' case, there was no evidence that any other person was charged with this crime.

Myers was prejudiced by the "Hand of one is the hand of all charge" because there was a reasonable probability that the jury could have believed that the drugs belonged to Crystal. There was no forensic evidence linking Myers or anyone else to the crime scene. Therefore, the jury could have found him not guilty and blamed the crime on the third party but for the jury charge.