STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002392

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES TRAMAYNE MYERS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could fairly and logically find him guilty of each charge.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict because the State did not present substantial circumstantial evidence that the drugs belonged to him and the evidence only raised a mere suspicion of his guilt. On the contrary, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because substantial circumstantial evidence existed that the drugs were in the dominion and control of Appellant, which is all that is required to show constructive possession. The trial court correctly submitted the case to the jury for its resolution, and this Court should affirm its decision.

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Larmand, Op. No. 27562 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 12, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 31, 35). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. Id. If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, this Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. Id. The trial court should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 625-26, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605-06 (2009). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to

produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 120, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007).

“Possession of drugs may be inferred from the circumstances and may be imputed to anyone who has the power and intent to control the disposition and use of the drugs.” State v. Brown, 319 S.C. 400, 404, 462 S.E.2d 828, 830 (Ct. App. 1995). Possession may be actual or constructive. State v. Mollison, 319 S.C. 41, 459 S.E.2d 88 (Ct. App. 1995). Constructive possession can be inferred when the drugs are in the joint control of Appellant and another person. State v. Hudson, 277 S.C. 200, 284 S.E.2d 773 (1981). Mere presence is insufficient to establish possession. Mollison, 319 S.C. at 45, 459 S.E.2d at 91. It has been held that knowledge of the presence of drugs is evidence of intent to control its disposition and use. Brown, 319 S.C. at 404, 462 S.E.2d at 830. Knowledge can be shown circumstantially through evidence of Appellant’s conduct, acts, or declarations from which an inference could be drawn that he knew of the existence of the drugs. State v. Gore, 318 S.C. 157, 163, 456 S.E.2d 419, 422 (Ct. App. 1995); Mollison, 319 S.C. at 45, 459 S.E.2d at 91.

“Constructive possession can be established by circumstantial as well as direct evidence, and possession may be shared.” Hudson, 277 S.C. at 202, 284 S.E.2d at 775. Constructive possession is proven by showing the accused has dominion and control, or the right to exercise dominion and control, over the contraband. Id. at 202, 284 S.E.2d at 774-75 (emphasis added). Acts, declarations, or conduct of the accused may create an inference that the accused knew of the existence of the contraband. Mollison, 319 S.C. at 45, 459 S.E.2d at 91. “The proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control.” State v. Adams, 291 S.C. 132, 135, 352 S.E.2d

483, 486 (1987). “Where contraband materials are found on premises under the control of the accused, this fact in and of itself gives rise to an inference of knowledge and possession which may be sufficient to carry the case to the jury.” State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 26-27, 524 S.E.2d 637, 639 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing Hudson, 277 S.C. at 203, 284 S.E.2d at 775). See also United States v. Poore, 594 F.2d 39, 43 (4th Cir. 1979) (finding because Appellant resided with a woman in her apartment for a period of time and the shotgun was discovered in that apartment, the jury could properly have concluded Poore was in constructive possession of the shotgun).

In Muhammed, this Court affirmed the trial court’s denial of the appellant’s directed verdict motion. Muhammed argued no evidence existed he had dominion and control over the drugs and the evidence raised a mere suspicion of guilt. 338 S.C. at 26, 524 S.E.2d at 639. This Court based its ruling on evidence showing Muhammed’s constructive possession of the drugs. The evidence included a witness who testified Muhammed had been visiting her for two days and had access to her house while she was gone. 338 S.C. at 28, 524 S.E.2d at 640. She testified he and his codefendant put a lock on the door and gave her a key. Id. She denied the drugs were hers. Id. This Court concluded there was sufficient evidence of Muhammed’s control over the drugs to properly deny the directed verdict motion. Similarly here, Appellant had control over the drugs that were found in the bedroom he shared with his girlfriend, who denied the drugs were hers. This evidence was sufficient to survive a directed verdict motion and go to the jury for its resolution.

Appellant argues only a mere suspicion of his guilt existed because there were no witnesses or forensic evidence. However, our jurisprudence does not require witnesses and forensic evidence to reasonably tend to prove the guilt of the accused and survive the

directed verdict stage of a trial. The drugs were found in the house that was occupied by three adults and specifically found under the bed Appellant slept in. Evidence existed that the drugs were under the dominion and control of Appellant due to his living in the bedroom where they were found. He received mail there, had been dating Crystal for thirteen–fourteen years (during which time he stayed regularly at the house), paid bills, and came and went on his own. See Mollison, 319 S.C. at 45, 459 S.E.2d at 91. The trial judge thoroughly ruled as follows on the directed verdict motion:

The testimony is such that Ms. Crystal Nelson claimed ownership of the gun, but not of the drugs, and that they were not there – I think she actually testified that she had seen the gun the day before. It was in the box the day before the execution of the search warrant, and there were no drugs in the pink box at that time.

The testimony from the officers is, there was cocaine, marijuana and the firearm all in the same box. So she denied ownership of the drugs. The jury could or could not believe her on that issue or could or could not believe her on the issue of the ownership of the gun.

...

And I guess the testimony from Ms. [Shirley] Nelson is she didn't know anything about any drug except that pipe that they found in her bedroom. So that would be circumstantial evidence that she had no knowledge of any drugs in the house. . . . The weight is certainly present for both the trafficking in cocaine if you believe the testimony of the – the evidence custodian, Ms. Mouzan – that's on the possession with intent to distribute marijuana – Ms. Mouzan and Ms. Black, I believe it was, the forensic drug analysis, there's evidence that that weight was present.

So I think there is substantial circumstantial evidence in the record.

(R. 110, line 15–R. 111, line 2; R. 111, lines 10–15; R. 111, line 19–R. 112, line 3.) The trial court's ruling shows the sufficient circumstantial evidence that existed to support its

denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion. See Larmand, Op. No. 27562 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Aug. 12, 2015) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 31) ("If there is either any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the defendant's guilt, appellate courts must find that the trial judge properly submitted the case to the jury.").

Here, the trial judge accurately assessed the evidence and determined it sufficient to allow Appellant's guilt to be fairly and logically deduced by the jury, when taken in a light most favorable to the State. The evidence reflects that Appellant and Crystal shared a bedroom at her mother's house. Furthermore, Appellant was not merely present or an unwary guest at the residence where the drugs and gun were found. Rather, he stayed there on a regular basis with his girlfriend of thirteen–fourteen years. He kept personal items in the bedroom and had personal mail there. Evidence showed he slept there the night before the search. (R. 71, lines 15–21.) Appellant had access to the house even when his girlfriend was gone. The fact that he lived in the house, in the particular bedroom where the contraband was found, gives rise to the inference of knowledge and possession which was sufficient to carry the case to the jury. Muhammed, 338 S.C. at 26-27, 524 S.E.2d at 639. It was certainly enough to show Appellant had the right to exercise dominion and control over the drugs and gun. Hudson at 202, 284 S.E.2d at 774-75.

Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied the motion for directed verdict, and this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

II.

The trial court properly charged the jury on the “hand of one is the hand of all” even though Appellant was the only one charged with a crime.

Appellant claims the trial judge erred by giving the jury an instruction regarding the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability because, he asserts, the doctrine should not apply where the State never charged anyone else with the crime. However, this argument is plainly without merit. Appellant cites no case law requiring that a defendant’s confederate under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory be charged with the crime.

“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 478, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010) (citations omitted). “The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” Id. at 479, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citation omitted) (stating that appellate courts should “consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial”).

Copious case law exists stating that an accessory may be convicted even if the principal is never charged with the crime. See State v. Massey, 267 S.C. 432, 443-46, 229 S.E.2d 332, 338-39 (1976); see also State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 656-57, 742 S.E.2d 29, 32 (Ct. App. 2013). In State v. Woomer, 276 S.C. 258, 277 S.E.2d 696 (1981), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991), the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory was appropriate even though the co-participant shot and killed himself before he could be captured. Therefore, the State submits that Appellant’s argument on this issue is without merit.

Appellant additionally asserts that the trial court should not have charged the jury with the “hand of one is the hand of all” where “no evidence showed that Appellant and Crystal Nelson were working in concert to own the drugs.” (App.Br.12). The trial judge did not err in giving the “hand of one is the hand of all” charge because evidence existed to support the charge. Under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything done by his accomplice incidental to the execution of the common plan. State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). The evidence presented at trial, as described above, supported a reasonable inference that either Appellant, both Appellant and Crystal, or Crystal were in possession of the drugs. See State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct. App. 2010) (the State need not show a “formal expressed agreement” to prove that parties agreed and combined to achieve an illegal purpose, but may prove the agreement “by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties”). Based upon the drugs’ presence under the bed in a box with Crystal’s gun, in the bedroom they shared, the jury was entitled to infer that both persons, or either person, had dominion and control over the drugs. If the jury concluded that both persons possessed the drugs, it could reasonably infer that Appellant and Crystal possessed them pursuant to a common plan. Furthermore, given the nexus between guns and drugs, the fact that Crystal’s gun was found in the box with the drugs indicates she may have been part of a common plan. See State v. Whitesides, 397 S.C. 313, 319, 725 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2012) (finding a nexus between possession of a firearm and drug trafficking if the firearm is accessible to the trafficker and thereby “provides defense against anyone who may attempt to rob the trafficker of his drugs or drug profits”).

The jurors were entitled to an instruction on the “hand of one is the hand of all” so that it would be clear that, even if the State could not definitively prove which one of the two persons who occupied the bedroom where the drugs were found possessed the drugs, Appellant was still guilty if they concluded that he and Crystal acted pursuant to, and carried out, a common plan to possess the drugs. See Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E.2d 436 (2011) (holding that a charge on the “hand of one is the hand of all” is appropriate where the evidence is equivocal as to which of several persons acting in concert physically committed the crime). Likewise, the jury could have determined Crystal possessed the drugs and still found Appellant guilty pursuant to the “hand of one is the hand of all.” See State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999) (“It is well-settled the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial, and if any evidence exists to support a charge, it should be given.”).

Appellant argues he was prejudiced by the charge “because there was a reasonable probability the jury could have believed the drugs belonged to Crystal,” effectively conceding the drugs could have belonged to Crystal, which is sufficient to have warranted an instruction on the “hand of one is the hand of all.” (App.Br.12.) Specifically, he argues that but for the charge, “the jury could have found him not guilty and blamed the crime on the third party.” (App.Br.12.) The problem with this logic, however, is that the jury found Appellant *not* guilty of the weapon charge, which the jury presumably blamed on the third party considering that third party (Crystal) admitted the weapon belonged to her. Thus, the jury demonstrated in its verdicts that it was able to find Appellant not guilty even after being charged with the “hand of one is the hand of all.” Appellant has shown no prejudice from this instruction, and this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling.

CONCLUSION